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PREFACE


SWANSEA JACK


Before I launch into the detail of Swansea’s history, I would like to recall a story of bravery and heroism that has Swansea folk brimming with pride. It is the story of a dog. A black dog. He was a retriever, with a longish, slightly curly black coat, and he lived in the general area of the North Dock with his owner, a chap called William Thomas. Jack had briefly been owned by another man, but had disgraced himself by killing some ducks in Parc Llewellyn. Not an auspicious start for a hero. A new home was needed for Jack.


He found that with William Thomas. It is thought that Jack, for a dog living near the docks, was actually afraid of water, but his owner encouraged him to go swimming in the dock with some local boys. During the play they had, Jack would happily drag boys by their belts, or if they had a shirt on, their collars, to the side of the dock.


In June 1931, when Jack was just 9 months old, a 12-year-old boy got into a scuffle on the dockside and fell in. As he got into trouble, Jack jumped in, grabbed him and brought him to the side. A few weeks later, he rescued a swimmer from the river near the West Pier. This brought him to the attention of the press, and the Swansea Corporation awarded him a silver collar. By August 1934, he had rescued fourteen people, and his fame was spreading. In 1936 he had the ‘Bravest Dog of the Year’ title given to him by the Star newspaper.


His exploits also earned him a silver cup from the Lord Mayor of London, and he received two bronze medals – also dubbed the canine VC – from the National Canine Defence League; a unique achievement. The legend says that he rescued twenty-seven people from either the river or the docks at Swansea. Some say twenty-nine, but he also rescued another dog from the water and a sack of puppies, so that might explain the discrepancy.


He was still a young dog when, in 1937, he ingested some rat poison and died. There have been conspiracy theories that this was done on purpose by some rogue, but the docks would have been plagued by rats and, as a consequence, rat poison would have been put down to kill them. It was probably just unfortunate that Jack managed to eat something that had been laced with poison.


His legacy, however, lives on. Today, Swansea people are nicknamed ‘Jacks’, and the supporters of Swansea City Football Club have been dubbed the ‘Jack Army’. A memorial, paid for by public subscription, stands on the Promenade near the St Helen’s Cricket Ground.


Now, let’s turn to the history and development of the town and its people – the Jacks of Swansea.
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East view of Swansea Castle, 1740, by Samuel and Nathaniel Buck.












INTRODUCTION


Swansea did not exist before the arrival of the Normans, around the turn of the eleventh and twelfth centuries. The area that was to become the town was, more than likely, just desolate riverbank occupied by a few birds and maybe some wild Welsh ponies. There is hardly any evidence to suggest that early man created anything permanent on the riverside acres that became Swansea. A few odd axe heads, flint tools and arrow heads have turned up, but they do not suggest permanent populations on the site. Of course, anything that might have existed would have long since been destroyed as the town grew, but it would seem that the early settlers in the area did not find the site particularly appealing. To find out who lived in these parts in earlier times, we must look for evidence in nearby Gower.


Today, Gower, Oystermouth and parts of the former Lliw Valley are incorporated into the City and County of Swansea. It is a unitary authority created in 1996. A previous local government reorganisation in 1974 had brought peninsular Gower into Swansea’s domain – the Gower Rural District Council had been in charge there up until then. Oystermouth Urban District Council, which included Mumbles, had been absorbed by Swansea in 1920. Lliw Valley was brought into existence in 1974 and, along with Swansea, Neath and Afan (Port Talbot), formed West Glamorgan. Lliw Valley covered Gorseinon, Pontardulais and the Upper Swansea Valley. All this disappeared again in 1996 when West Glamorgan was dissolved as a county council, and the area was divided into the City and County of Swansea and the County Borough of Neath Port Talbot. Swansea had been created a city in 1969 to celebrate the investiture of the Prince of Wales. It maintained its city status through all the subsequent changes that were made to local government in Wales.


In this book, I will endeavour to relate the history of Swansea as it existed prior to the 1974 reorganisation. I will refer to Gower occasionally, but a proper history of the peninsula will require another book.
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EARLIEST TIMES TO THE COMING OF THE NORMANS


IN THE BEGINNING


Whilst the riverside site now occupied by Swansea was, it seems, largely ignored by early man, the same cannot be said of peninsular Gower. The first evidence of human activity in the area comes from Rhosili in the form of a 75,000-year-old hand axe. Elsewhere in Wales, there is evidence of human activity from 250,000 years ago, but it only suggests nomadic groups passing through rather than permanent settlements. At this time, there was no Bristol Channel, and a large plain linked Wales with the south-west of England, Ireland and mainland Europe. Human beings could walk to these parts and clearly did so at this time.


In order to make the understanding of history easier, the passage of time has been conveniently divided into ‘ages’. So, we have the Stone Age, itself divided into the Old Stone Age (Palaeolithic), the Middle Stone Age (Mesolithic) and the New Stone Age (Neolithic). These were followed by the Bronze Age and then the Iron Age.


In Gower, artefacts have been found at sites from all of these periods. From the Old Stone Age comes the skeleton of a young man found in Paviland Cave on the south Gower coast. Uncovered in the early nineteenth century and studied initially by William Buckland in 1823, it was originally thought to be that of a woman, ‘The Red Lady of Paviland’. Later research declared it to be a young man, who had been buried in the cave, it is thought, with some ritual, 26,000 years ago. This cave is one of the most important archaeological sites in Wales. So many items have been discovered there that it has to be considered to be of national importance.


The ending of the Ice Age brought dramatic climate change with rising temperatures and rising sea levels. As the sea inundated the lower lying-land, so Britain became a wooded island, and as the New Stone Age dawned the population of these islands grew and began to settle. Burial sites of importance from this long age and into the Bronze Age can be found at King Arthur’s Stone on Cefn Bryn in Gower; Giant’s Grave at Llethrid Cwm in south Gower and Swine Houses (or Sweyne’s Howes) on Rhosili Down. The number of Bronze Age cairns in the area indicate a growing population, but evidence of early domestic dwellings is scant. The most important comes from a site within the urban area of Swansea, at Coltshill, near Mumbles. An excavation of a Bronze Age cairn in 1969 produced pottery fragments, a hearth and the post holes of a dwelling.


The Iron Age was also, largely, the age of the Celts. Celtic peoples were on the move throughout Europe at this time, and where they settled they built enclosures, usually defended, that were fortresses in time of strife. In Gower, the most impressive of these is at Cil Ifor Top in Llanrhidian. Evidence has been found there for huts within the enclosure. Other Celtic enclosures have been identified at the Knave near Mewslade; Redley Cliff near Caswell; Pwll Ddu Head and in Bishopston Valley.


THE ROMAN OCCUPATION


From Roman sources, we learn that in South Wales there were two Celtic tribes at the end of the Iron Age. The Silures in the south-east, and the Demetae in the south-west. It seems that the border between them ran approximately through the Swansea and Gower area. This would not be a border in the sense that we would understand the term, but rather broad lands which would change hands from time to time, and where the two tribes mixed – either peaceably or in conflict. Roman sources suggest that the Silures were a warlike people whose warriors were determined and brave. It may well have taken the Romans some effort over a period of time to subdue them.


The Romans had subjugated the whole area by 74 CE. They quickly established forts at what, for them, were strategic points. Nidum, Leucarum and Maridunum – that is, Neath, Loughor and Carmarthen. These were all classed as auxiliary forts and would have been subject to the legionary fort that existed at Isca, which today is Caerleon. Both Isca and Maridunum had substantial urban centres, where the populations would have been drawn from local people. It has been suggested that the Loughor fort was constructed very early in the Roman occupation, probably around 74–75 CE. The Roman army left Wales around 393 CE.


Given 300 years of occupation, it is not surprising that many Roman artefacts have turned up throughout the area. Coins, both individually and in hoards, have been found. The remains of a Roman villa have been uncovered at Oystermouth, and pottery, weapons, jewellery and coins have been found in many of the caves of Gower, suggesting that they were occupied by the native Celts, either as residences or workshops. It has been suggested that there may have been several Roman or Romano-British estates in Gower, although there has been no evidence uncovered of buildings.


It seems that the native Celtic people carried on their lives much as before, tolerating the presence of the Roman occupiers. After initially resisting them, they eventually settled into their old ways, whilst enjoying the veneer of civilisation that contact with Rome brought. Trade could now be carried out with communities in most of Europe, the Middle East and North Africa. Those who became citizens of the Roman Empire were free to travel within the empire or, if not, also to fight and die for it if they joined Rome’s army. Some, unhappily, became slaves and were transported forcibly to other parts of the empire.


It is very likely that the Romans built a road to link Leucarum with Nidum and Isca. Today, we can trace the possible route of this road, by following the B4620 out of Loughor and through Garden Village and on to Middle Road in Gendros and down to the River Tawe. On Stafford Common there is evidence of temporary practice camps, thrown up during the training of soldiers and then abandoned once their job was done. This coastal road has been dubbed the Via Julia Maritima by modern commentators, but its Roman title is unknown.


The crossing of the Tawe is an interesting puzzle. At this time, the river would have been much less of a barrier than it might seem. However, it was necessary to have a crossing, and we can only speculate as to whether there was a bridge at this point. Evidence uncovered in 1846 whilst the North Dock was being constructed suggests that the crossing was in fact a ford. In 1877 the Rev. J.D. Davies wrote the following description of the discovery of the ford by Colonel Grant Francis, who had been at the site at the time:




In constructing the lock at the upper end of the North Dock … a regularly formed paved crossing was discovered. This work was carefully constructed of strong timber, wattled on its upper and lower sides, while the road within was packed with three horizontal layers of good sized boulders, upon which were laid, from bank to bank of the river, squared blocks of native sandstone. This roadway was in sound condition, and undoubtedly ancient, for it lay several feet below the then existing bed of the Tawey. From its systematic and excellent construction, the engineers were of the opinion that it was of Roman workmanship.





If, indeed, this was a Roman ford across the Tawe, then it would have enabled soldiers, either on horseback or on foot, to cross the river in relative safety. Although there have been odd finds in and around the centre of Swansea, including a piece of a cooking pot, there is currently insufficient evidence to suggest there was any kind of settlement near the ford. The Romans would not have needed a fort here, as the forts at Loughor and Neath were near enough to provide assistance should it be needed. It is possible that a tavern of some kind might have been sited here, to provide rest and refreshment for travellers, but there was no settled community here.


A ford also crossed the Loughor Estuary, and may have been of similar construction to this one across the Tawe. The road would then have continued to Maridunum. It is also thought that a side road left the main road somewhere to the west of the Tawe and headed down to Oystermouth, where an estate, possibly of some importance, was centred on a villa. The remains of this villa lie in the churchyard at Oystermouth and were discovered before 1697 when Isaac Hamon of Bishopston described the small coloured tiles, or tesserae. Local superstition identified this tiled floor as the ‘Saint’s Pavement’. It may have been that the first church in Oystermouth was built amid the ruins of a Roman villa, possibly because if the local folk believed in the Saint’s Pavement myth, it was thought a good idea to build the church on a site already felt to be holy.


All these discoveries and the discussions that have resulted lead to a picture of Roman South Wales that is quite bucolic. There are five forts at equal distances from each other (the fifth fort was called Bomium, but no one knows quite where that was sited, other than between Isca and Nidum). There were farming estates, each centred on a villa, although there is no evidence to show where these were. The local Celtic population continued to live in or near their hillforts, tolerating the presence of the Roman overlords and their army. The population could well have been quite cosmopolitan, as soldiers would come from anywhere in the empire, as would traders and craftsmen looking for opportunities to work.


Money, in the form of coins, was in general circulation, and was used by both the Roman community and the native population. The caves in the cliffs of South Gower were still being used for several purposes including homes, workshops and for burials. The sea would have provided fish and shellfish – and at Oystermouth, oysters were being picked from the beds that gave the village its name. Maybe the villa there was the home of an entrepreneur in the oyster industry? The oyster beds were certainly cared for, if not actually farmed in the modern sense. Society would have had a structure and generally, as a result, peace held sway.


Trouble, however, was brewing on the distant eastern borders of the Roman Empire. Incursions into the empire by Germanic tribes meant that military resources had to be allocated to those lands, and so the Roman army in Britain was gradually withdrawn to defend Rome herself. It seems that the entire military presence in Wales had gone by 393 CE.


THE DARK AGES


I make no apology for using the term ‘the Dark Ages’, although its use to describe the period between the end of Roman rule and the arrival of the Normans has declined in recent years. It is, however, a useful term to cover the period between 400 CE and about 1100 CE. Over the 700 years between these dates, very little archaeological evidence is to be found. The adoption of Christianity and the customs of that religion meant burials were not accompanied by grave goods. Very few coins have been found and very little pottery remains.


For the first 200 years or so after the Roman withdrawal, those who had enjoyed a degree of power and wealth during the latter days of empire continued to follow their established lifestyle. Some Roman settlements continued to be occupied, the roads laid out during the Roman period continued to be used, and indeed continue in use today. Latin remained in use until as late as 500 CE. Trade must have carried on, although probably at a lesser rate than previously. Evidence for this is to be found in the remains of pottery from Gaul and the eastern Mediterranean dating up to 650 CE.


This period, around the middle of the seventh century, saw the local population, who it seems were descended from the Demetae, beginning to establish a political and social order. Gower, including the area that became Swansea, straddled the border country between the land occupied by the Demetae and the land occupied by the Silures, the other South Walian tribe, and was often forced to shift allegiance. In around 650 CE it had its own king, named as Merchwyn ap Glywys. However, as time went on, Gower was absorbed into a larger kingdom which stretched from Gwent to the eastern edge of Dyfed. This was the kingdom of Glywysing, and was ruled over by Meurig ap Tewdrig and his descendants. Dyfed, to the west, comprised what is today Pembrokeshire, Carmarthenshire and parts of Cardiganshire. This kingdom was influenced by Irish settlers and possibly settlers from France.


By the tenth century, the political landscape had changed, and Gower became a disputed land. Dyfed was now largely the kingdom of Deheubarth and Glywysing had become Morgannwg, named for Morgan Hen who ruled there from about 934 to 974. From 958, Gower endured frequent attacks from Dyfed, and in 984 Einon of Dyfed, the grandson of Hywel Dda, was killed whilst making an attempt to add Gower to his realm. At some point, though, the men of Dyfed were successful, and Gower, the largest commote in Wales, along with the commotes of Carnwyllion (Llanelli) and Cydweli (Kidwelly) were merged into the cantref of Ystrad Tywi, and became part of Deheubarth.


All of South Wales had to contend with further disruption from the tenth century onwards, as its coastline was a target for the Vikings, seaborne raiders who had already established settlements in Ireland, on the Isle of Man and in the Highlands and islands of Scotland. The accepted view is that the Vikings just wanted to plunder, and consequently were not too concerned about the death and destruction that they caused. The truth is that they were just as concerned with creating settlements, trading and working hard to create wealth for themselves. A sizeable chunk of northern France had already been colonised and become Normandy, and from there the Normans, as these French Vikings became known, established kingdoms in Sicily and Naples. Perhaps they hoped to achieve the same in South Wales, but found the opposition much tougher to overcome.


WHAT’S IN A NAME?


Viking names appear all along the South Wales coast, from Skokholm in Pembrokeshire to Steepholm off Barry. And so we come to perhaps the biggest South Wales mystery to involve the Vikings – is Swansea a Viking place name? We know that the Welsh name for the city, ‘Abertawe’, simply means the mouth of the River Tawe. An alternative Welsh name, which appears occasionally in early Welsh writing, is ‘Sein Henydd’, the origin of which is much less clear. However, many words and much ink has been expended discussing the origin of the name ‘Swansea’.


Before discussing the name of the town, we need to spend some time establishing whether there was any kind of settlement on the site before the arrival of the Normans. It has been argued that before the Normans arrived, the whole area was nothing more than ‘a stretch of sand, the haunt of sea-gull and plover’, to quote Sir John Lloyd. This, of course, begs the question, why would the Normans choose to build a castle on a desolate stretch of river bank with no obvious advantages?


The Romans had chosen to rule the area from a fort at Loughor and another at Neath. Apart from a ford across the lower part of the river, they largely ignored the Swansea area. The Normans, however, were attempting to conquer and subdue a much more sophisticated local population, with administrative structures and mores already well established. Also, they were aware that their castles had to be much more impregnable and using marshland and river as part of the defences made a great deal of sense. They were trying to conquer a Christian land, where the people worshipped the same god, in much the same way as they did. Perhaps a castle on a previously unoccupied site would have meant greater acceptance by local people.


The additional factor that we are only able to speculate about is whether or not there was a community – perhaps religious or maybe secular – on the site before the Normans arrived. Some evidence suggests that there was something there. Excavations in the early twentieth century found skeletons in quantity below Worcester Place, where the edge of the mound of Swansea’s first castle would have been. Could this suggest that a religious community of some kind existed there, or at least that there had been a church and a small settlement there?


An early Welsh name that has been associated with Swansea by scholars is ‘Lanngemei’ and Colonel Llewellyn Morgan suggested, having become convinced himself, that this was the name of an early Celtic foundation, in or very near Swansea, that the Normans ripped down and built their castle over.
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An 1838 view of Swansea Castle, by Newman & Co.





If the Vikings had established some sort of settlement on the site, then it would have been destined to struggle for survival in tumultuous times. There was great rivalry between Deheubarth and Morgannwg, with Gower placed between them. It is frequently asserted that the name Swansea derives from the Viking name ‘Sweyn’ with the addition of ‘eie’ meaning ‘reach’, or arguably ‘island’.


There is no island at the mouth of the Tawe, other than a mudbank that appears at certain times when there is a low tide. It probably was never, nor has ever been, named. ‘Sweyn’, however, could refer to King Sweyn Forkbeard, who was the father of King Canute, was King of Denmark, had briefly been King of England himself, and was known as a sea rover. Perhaps the Vikings had established a temporary mooring for their ships at the mouth of the River Tawe and chose to call it ‘Sweyn’s eie’; or Sweyn himself had created a temporary base from which to operate. Another suggestion is that Sweyn was shipwrecked on this stretch of the Welsh coast. Why the name has survived is a mystery but it did and has been used in many forms from the twelfth century to the present day.
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NORMANS TO THE END OF THE STUARTS


THE NORMANS SETTLE IN


Whatever the reason or reasons that convinced the Normans that here was a good spot to build their first castle, it was of their normal motte-and-bailey type. The man responsible for this was Henry de Newburgh, Earl of Warwick. Until 1106 the Welsh commote of Gwyr was held by Hywel ap Goronwy, and it was his death in that year that led Henry I, King of England, to invest the commote in de Newburgh, as part of a wider scheme to ensure that the lands in Wales came into Norman hands. De Newburgh then set about the transformation of this Welsh commote into the marcher lordship of Gower. It was essential that the new ruler had a defendable headquarters – or caput – in a convenient place within the lordship. De Newburgh ignored Loughor, which had been the administrative headquarters during Roman times, in favour of the more central and possibly more easily accessible site on the River Tawe.


The motte-and-bailey castle would have been made of wood and would have been built to be as strong as possible. Swansea was at the edge of the Norman possessions in South Wales at this time and the castle could expect to be attacked at any point. Another similar castle was built at Loughor at around the same time, partly on the site of the Roman fort that had existed there. The third castle, this time controlling the upper River Loughor, was at Llandeilo Talybont. Similar motte-and-bailey castles were built at Penmaen and Penrice on Gower.


If King Sweyn Forkbeard had given his name to the spot that the Normans chose for their caput, then Henry de Newburgh would have been aware of it. Only 100 years had passed between Sweyn’s death and the arrival of the Normans in south-west Wales. Sweyn was, therefore, a famous figure from the recent past.


Although the Viking age in Britain had ended with the defeat of Harald Hardrada at the Battle of Stamford Bridge in 1066, their activities and exploits were still well remembered. Henry de Newburgh, being a Norman, would have been aware of his descent from those Vikings who settled in France. He may have felt it acceptable to continue using a name that celebrated a fellow Norseman who had also come to the area in search of conquest.


The castle at Swansea served a number of different purposes. It was a military headquarters with a barracks to house soldiers. It was also the centre for the administration of the lordship and was where justice was meted out. Wrongdoers would be held in cells or dungeons, making the castle a prison. There is evidence that coins were minted in Swansea in the twelfth century, so maybe the castle was a mint, too. It certainly would have been the financial headquarters of the lordship and would have included a treasury.


In addition to all of these functions, the castle would also have been home to the lord when he was in the area. It is likely that the de Newburghs would have lived at the castle during the early years of its existence, as the lord would have wanted to keep tight control of developments in his new territory. However, as time went on, and national and international affairs took priority, so the Lords of Gower were content to leave day-to-day control to their steward (also called the seneschal).


The de Newburghs held the Lordship of Gower from 1106 to 1184, when it passed back into the king’s hands. He gave it to the de Braose family, who held it until 1326. The de Braoses were renowned as oppressive and cruel in their rule. The last de Braose heiress, Alina, was the daughter of the William de Braose who had died in 1326. She held the castle together with her husband, John de Mowbray.


By the union of Alina with John de Mowbray, the Lordship of Gower passed into the hands of the de Mowbray family. Their son, also called John, repaired the old castle, which had been left badly damaged by the actions of a Welsh princeling, Rhys ap Meredith. (As an aside to these main events in Swansea, it can be noted that John de Mowbray, husband of Alina, was hanged on the battlements at York on the orders of King Edward II.)


Dynastic pressures and marriages meant that by the fifteenth century, the Herberts held the lordship and then it passed to the Somerset family, who were successively Earls and Marquesses of Worcester and Dukes of Beaufort. It remains in that family today.


OEBPS/xhtml/nav.xhtml


 

Contents





		Title



		Copyright



		Contents



		Preface



		Introduction



		1 Earliest Times to the Coming of the Normans



		2 Normans to the End of the Stuarts



		3 Swansea’s Alter Ego: The Town in the Late Eighteenth and Early Nineteenth Centuries



		4 Industrial Development and the Lower Swansea Valley



		5 Coal Mining



		6 Swansea Docks



		7 Canals



		8 Railways



		9 Tramways



		10 Religion



		11 Educating Jack (and Jill)



		12 Postal Services in Swansea



		13 Entertainment



		14 The Great War



		15 The Guildhall



		16 The Second World War



		17 Peacetime Progress



		18 Famous Swansea Personalities



		Bibliography



		Acknowledgements









Guide





		Cover



		Title



		Start











OEBPS/images/f0002-01.png





OEBPS/images/f0020-01.png





OEBPS/images/title.png
THE

LITTLE
HlSTORY

SWANSEA

DAVID GWYNN






OEBPS/images/half.png
THE

LITTLE
HlSTORY

SWANSEA





OEBPS/images/cover.jpg
:

THIE

LI L
LSHIR@IRN(4

SWANSEA






OEBPS/images/f0008-01.png





